
 

 

      February 17, 2022 
Via CM/ECF 
 
Patricia S. Connor, Clerk of the Court 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit  
1100 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
 

RE: Holloway et al. v. City of Virginia Beach, et al., No. 21-1533 
 
Dear Ms. Connor: 
 
 Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 28(j), Plaintiffs-Appellees respectfully 
submit this letter to provide the Court with the City of Virginia Beach’s 
application for preclearance of its remedial plan under the Virginia Voting 
Rights Act (“VVRA”) and its receipt of preclearance from the Virginia 
Attorney General. Appellees were not informed of the City’s preclearance 
submission and approval until last week, after they filed their appellees’ brief.  
 
 The City submitted the remedial plan to satisfy its independent legal 
obligations under the VVRA. The VVRA became law after the district court 
entered its injunction in this case. The Attorney General noted the plan was 
being precleared under the VVRA—the scope of which exceeds Section 2 of 
the federal Voting Rights Act—because the plan “will ensure the creation of 
three ‘minority opportunity to elect’ districts.” Ex. 1. 
 
 At this point, both parties contend this case has become moot. Indeed, 
while the City misapprehends the significance of the VVRA preclearance 
process to the issue of mootness, it nevertheless contends in its reply brief that 
the VVRA—not merely a prior law regarding residency districts—is central 
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to its mootness argument. See Reply at 3 (relying upon VVRA’s requirements 
to contend that the case is moot). 
 
 Because the City did not reveal its preclearance submission or results 
in any of its prior motions or briefing, Appellees believe the Court would 
benefit from supplemental briefing on the appropriate disposition of this 
appeal in light of both parties’ contentions that the VVRA has rendered this 
appeal moot. Contrary to the City’s contention, Reply at 2, vacatur is not an 
automatic result. See, e.g., Catawba Riverkeeper Found. v. N.C. Dep’t of 
Transp., 843 F.3d 583, 590 (4th Cir. 2016). 
 
 

 
 
 
J. Gerald Hebert 
J. GERALD HEBERT P.C.  
191 Somervelle St. No. 405 
Alexandria, VA 22304 
(703) 628-4673 
 
Annabelle E. Harless 
CAMPAIGN LEGAL CENTER  
55 W. Monroe St., Ste. 1905 
Chicago, IL 60603 
(312) 312-2885 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
/s/ Mark P. Gaber 
Mark P. Gaber 
Robert N. Weiner 
Christopher D. Lamar 
CAMPAIGN LEGAL CENTER  
1101 14th Street, NW, St. 400 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
 (212) 736-2000 
  

  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellees 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I certify that on February 17, 2022, the foregoing document was 

served on all parties or their counsel of record through the CM/ECF system. 

 
       /s/ Mark P. Gaber 

Mark P. Gaber 
 

Counsel for Plaintiffs/Appellees 
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No. 21-1533 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT 

_____________________________________ 
 

LATASHA HOLLOWAY, et al.,  
 

 Plaintiffs/Appellees, 
 

v. 
 

CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH, et al., 
 

 Defendants/Appellants. 
_____________________________________ 

 
On Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia, Norfolk Division 
_____________________________________ 

 
EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF APPELLEES’ NOTICE OF 

SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORITY 
_____________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT 1 
Preclearance Decision 
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EXHIBIT 2 
Preclearance Submission 
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From: Dana R. Harmeyer
To: votingrights@oag.state.va.us
Cc: PHeenan@oag.state.va.us
Subject: Virginia Beach Preclearance Request for Court Ordered Remedial Plan
Attachments: City of Virginia Beach Preclearance Request Dec 30 2021.pdf

Final Order.pdf
281-1 - Special Master Report.pdf
288 - Supplemental Memo of Special Master.pdf

Dear Sir or Madam:
I am respectfully requesting the Office of the Attorney General review the attached request for
preclearance of a remedial plan entered by the Eastern District of Virginia Court.  The Final Order,
Special Master Report and Supplemental Memo of the Special Master are attached for reference.
Please let me know if you would like any additional information regarding this matter.
Best regards,
Dana Harmeyer
Senior City Attorney
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From: VotingRights
To: Dana R. Harmeyer; VotingRights
Subject: RE: Virginia Beach Preclearance Request for Court Ordered Remedial Plan
Date: Thursday, December 30, 2021 1:15:10 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the City of Virginia Beach. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Understood! Thanks for letting me know, Dana.
 
Sincerely,
 
Palmer T. Heenan III
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General 
202 North 9th Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219
Office: (804) 786-3998
PHeenan@oag.state.va.us
http://www.ag.virginia.gov

 
 

From: Dana R. Harmeyer <DHarmeye@vbgov.com> 
Sent: Thursday, December 30, 2021 1:09 PM
To: VotingRights <votingrights@oag.state.va.us>
Subject: RE: Virginia Beach Preclearance Request for Court Ordered Remedial Plan
 
Palmer:
Thanks for the acknowledgement. 
I don’t believe it is germane to your review, but the City has appealed the liability finding to the
Fourth Circuit Court.  Earlier in the process, the Fourth Circuit was unwilling to review the liability
determination until the completion of the remedial phase.  The City intends to comply with the
court’s order pending the outcome of the appeal.
Dana
 

From: VotingRights <votingrights@oag.state.va.us> 
Sent: Thursday, December 30, 2021 12:33 PM
To: Dana R. Harmeyer <DHarmeye@vbgov.com>
Subject: RE: Virginia Beach Preclearance Request for Court Ordered Remedial Plan
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the City of Virginia Beach. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
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Mr. Harmeyer,
 
We are in receipt of your request and will respond as soon as possible. In the meantime, should we
require any additional information, we will let you know.
 
Have a great holiday!
 
Sincerely,
 
Palmer T. Heenan III
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General 
202 North 9th Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219
Office: (804) 786-3998
PHeenan@oag.state.va.us
http://www.ag.virginia.gov

 
 

From: Dana R. Harmeyer <DHarmeye@vbgov.com> 
Sent: Thursday, December 30, 2021 12:31 PM
To: VotingRights <votingrights@oag.state.va.us>
Cc: Heenan III, Palmer T. <PHeenan@oag.state.va.us>
Subject: Virginia Beach Preclearance Request for Court Ordered Remedial Plan
 
Dear Sir or Madam:
I am respectfully requesting the Office of the Attorney General review the attached request for
preclearance of a remedial plan entered by the Eastern District of Virginia Court.  The Final Order,
Special Master Report and Supplemental Memo of the Special Master are attached for reference.
Please let me know if you would like any additional information regarding this matter.
Best regards,
Dana Harmeyer
Senior City Attorney
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